1560

ArT. XVIII.—Ennrerdale, By the late Cor, E. P.
LITTLEDALE.

HOUGH in three deeds in the Saint Bees Chartulary®
Ranulph Meschin grants to the churches of Saint
Mary of York and Saint Bees the manor of Avenderdale in
pure and perpetual alms, free from every earthly service;
and Richard I, as well Edward Il in 1308, confirms to
Saint Mary of York the town of Ananderdalet the gift
of Ranulph—if these places are correctly identified with
Ennerdale—it is doubtful whether the Priory ever held
more there than the chapel and the tithes, The tithes of
all Copeland had been granted to 5aint Bees by William
Meschin, Ennerdale lay at one end of that chace, and
boundaries then, as five hundred years later, were not
defined. Ranulphs deeds were probably only an ae-
knowledgment that the tithes of Ennerdale were included
in his father's grant. Ennerdale is not mentioned among
the possessions in Cumberland of Saint Mary of York in
which the Abbot was called on by Edward I to prove his
claim to right of wail.?

If, however, the monks ever did hold the lordship of the
manor, they must have parted with it soon after the
snspeximus of Edward II—an unlikely act—for in 1321-2
Thomas Multon of Egremont died seised of Eyvnerdale
within the free chace of Coupland fell, parcel of the manor
of Egremont.§ It is always afterwards found in lay
hands, and in no subsequent record has even a hint been
traced that the Priory ever owned any land there.

On the partition in 1334 of the estates of John, son of

® Surbord Soe,, 188, pp. 350,

¥ B, p 514,

1 Plac. de Quo. War, oo Ed. L p. 1220
§His 1,70,
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ENNERDALF. 157

the said Thomas Multon, among his sisters, Ennerdale
passed by marriage to the Harringtons of Aldingham, and
g0, by the well known descent, through the Bonvilles, to
the Greys. At Easter 1475 Edward IV ordered that
Thomas Grey, son of Elizabeth, Qhueen of England, might
give nothing for the fine to nine writs granting licence to
the said Thomas and Cecilia, Lady of Haryington and
Bonvyle, his wife, to agree with Thomas Stydoli, Gentil-
man, concerning the manors of . . . . . . [a long list of
manors and lands in many countiez] and the manors of
Egremond, Haryngton, Gosford, Enerdale, Kelton and
Wodacre, and the office of bailiff between Eyne and Der-
went and between Eyne and Dodyn in Cumberland.*

And in 1532 Thomas' son, Thomas Grey, 2nd Marquis of
Drorset, died seized of the manor of Enardale, parcel of the
manor of Egremont, worth £18. 2. 11. p.a.f

On the attainder in 1554 of Henry Grey, jrd Marquis of
Dorset and Duke of Suffolk, Ennerdale escheated to the
Crown, Mary and Elizabeth kept it in their own hands,
as did James I till 1624 when, having failed to induce the
tenants to accept long leases, he granted it to his son,
Charles, Prince of Wales,§ on whose death it was seized by
the Parliament, but reverted to the Crown at the Res-
toration.§

On 13 June, 1665, Charles IT granted the manor and
forest of Ennerdale to (hueen Catherine as part of her
jointure.| During her life, and afterwards until 1764,
they were leased successively to Charles North, Lord Grey
of Rolleston: Francis, znd Lord Holles; the latter’s son
Denzil, 3rd Lord Holles: and his heirs, John, Ear of
Clare and Duke of Newcastle, and Thomas Holles Pelham,

* [ie Bacco Bastor 14 B, IV, bo, 38g; o, also fo. 7id, aml Lo Neve's Index
F.of F., Ed, IV, f. 14,

t His LA

1 Denton, A pompl, p. 167,

§ Estreats of Court Rolls, passdm,

1 LB 1/ nath, foe ga
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158 ENNERDALE.

Duke of Newcastle,* Omn 3 Jan., 1768, the manor, forest,
mines, etc., were leased by the Crown to Sir James
Lowther for three lives, and on 26 Sep., 1822, sold out-
right for f2500% to his kinaman William, Earl of Lonsdale,
in whose family it remains,

PEDIGRER.
Jomx '.i'I-uLLE:-.m-nud Bares Houghion and Earl of Clare.

I |
Jes 2 Eard of Clare, Despar, ereated Baron Holles of [8eid, dréa-Bo.
ikl b

l'-lr-ll ERT § Eard of Clars, F:Il.l!lli.'-r-l- 2 Bar, Halles, d. 183g-g0.

jm!'_u.q.E-u‘.lﬂrEI.uu-lh.tc.-.tl:'r ':-IIﬂEI.- S THOMAS i'.l:l.;!l'nl,.
afd Dhiske of New- 4, & <ok, af PELIEAS. Barom Haiﬂ.
eagtle, Sesesded  Hency Duke . 1haq.
Iy the fortuse of of Newcastle,
Dwnnad] T, Holles;
T

Tonomas Hoccesr Prricam,

created Earl of Clare and

Diulios of Newcastle, d. 1765,

Four surveys of the manor are extant. The first§ is
undated. It was certainly issued in the first two or three
years of Elizabeth’s reign, but, from its similarity to a
survey of the manor of Kelton dated 25 May, 1557,
might have been compiled about that time. It records
the name, acreage and rent of each tenement, and the
name of the tenant, The second,§ which was based
on the previous one, was made in 1568, and gives the
names of the tenants only with their rents and fines paid,
together with a full account of the customs of the maneor,
The third**® was made for the Parliament in 1650, and
contains a statement of the value of the manor with some
notes on the customs, The fourthff was made for Queen

* Gee 1, 176,
f LB 1/egn, fo, as,

i L.B. 1/549, o, 324 -

FL.E. 1o/

|| Haxl: ME. o6 fo. Bafe7.

q LK, 19/ and 03/5/0,  Also Dickioson MS.  [edde tafe, po 171).
** Pyrllamentary Surveys, Cemb, Na. 4.

1f Reatali asd Survoys, 28 Car. 11, 6./51.
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ENNERDALE. 59

Catherine in 1676, and consists only of a list of the then
tenants and their rents. Among the Land Revenue
Papers* in the Record Office, frequently in unsorted
bundles, are many dealing with Ennerdale, including
forty-two estreats of Court Eolls, auditors’, receivers” and
stewards’ reports, and copies of grants, accounts, ete, It is
mainly from these that the following notes are compiled.

Prior to 1554 Ennerdale is generally described as being
in the free chace of Copeland, or as parcel of the manor of
Egremont. But after it came into the hands of the
Crown it was not made part of any duchy, honour, castle
or manor, but was always treated as a manor per se
Sometimes it i3 called the Manor of Ennerdale, at others
the Liberty of Ennerdale or the Forest of Ennerdale, but
more usually * the Manor or Forest ' of Ennerdale.

There being no resident lord it was managed by bailiffs,
stewards and graves.

In* Grants from the Crown during the reign of Edward
V"% is one, undated but presumably May or June, 1483,
appointing Sir Richard Huddelston, Knt., Receivor of all
lordships, manors, lands, ete., in cos. Cumberland and
Lancashire, which lately belonged te Thomas, Marquis
of Dorset, Magistrate of the forests and Steward of all
the said lordships, etc.; and to the office of bailiff of Cope-
lamd: to hold for his life or by his deputy. This appoint-
ment must have been actually made by Richard, Duke of
Gloucester, before his coronation, It is curdous that in
the appointment by Charles 11 in 1660 of Richard Tolson
to be Steward of Ennerdale that manor is stated to have
been formerly of Richard, Duke of Gloucester.? No
doubt Richard, who had been appointed Warden of the
West Marshes towards Scotland in 1470, and held the
henour of Penrith, seized all the lands of Thomas, Marquis
of Dorset, when he arrested him on 30 April, 1483, and

* Cibed ax L.R.
f Harl. M5, 413, printsd by Camdes Soe,, b, p. 45,
1 LR, rfy0q.
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160 ENMERDALE,

kept them while he was king.  But he could not have held
them as Duke of Gloucester for more than a month or
two, The statement in the grant of 1660, that he held
the manor, looks like a misreading by the draftsman of the
appointment by Queen Elizabeth in 1575 of Ralph Ashton
to be Steward of the lordship of Penrith and in lez {henes
hames, co. Cumb., and of all manors, ete., once parcel of
the possessions of Richard, late Duke of Gloucester; and
to the office of Steward of the Manors of Ennerdale and
Egremont, etc., late parcel of the possessions of Henry,
late Duke of Sufiolk.*

In a compotus of the Cumberland manors of Thomas
Cerey, znd Marquis of Dorset, for the vear ending Michae]-
mas 1515t Anthony Patrickson renders his account as
bailiff between Even and Derwente; and in the valuation
of the Priory of S5t. Bees, made in 1530, he is mentioned as
one of the three bailiffs of Copeland who each received
35 4d. pa.

COm 30 April, 1540, Henry, Marquis Dorset, Lord Ferres
de Groobye, Harrington, Bonvyle and Astley, for good
service, as well to himself as to his late father, by his
gervant Anthony Patrickson, granted him, and such son
of his as he might nominate, for their lives, the office of
bailiwick or bailiff of the Liberty (offic’ ballivat' sive balivi
Littat’) as well between Eyn and Duden as between
Eyn and Darwent Encrdall Egremounte Harrington
(sic] and all Liberties franchises and jurisdictions he
(Henry] had within the said bounds in Cumberland; and
the office of custodian of the forest of Enerdall, and
farmer {conductor) of all the tenants in Enerdall, Egre-
mount and Harrington, for the fee of £3. 0. 10, p.a.t

And on 5 July, 1548 Henry, Marquis Dorset, etc., for
good service by his servant, Anthony Patrickson, senior,

"L.K. 83, ba, iz,
t Add. Charfer 2qq50.
T L.R. 8712y, b B,
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ENNERDALE. Iht

granted him and Anthony, his son, the office of bailiff of
the lordship or manor of Muchland, co, Lanc., to hold, by
themselves or their deputy, for their lives, in as full a
manner as John Assell held it, for the fee of 535. 4d. p.a_;
and he gave seisin by the payment of 4d. to the said
Anthony and Anthony.®

Anthony, the father, died circa 1555-6, and Anthony,
his son, in 1578, The latter seems to have been succeeded
as bailiff of Muchland, for a while at least, by his elder
brother, William; for in the receivers’ accounts for 1582-3
and 15856 we find that William Patrickson was paid
535. 4d. as an annuity out of the lands of the late Duke of
Suffolk.

William also succeeded his father as bailiff of Ennerdale,
but the office of bailiff between Eyn and Derwent and Eyn
and Doden was granted, 6 Aug., 1557, to Thomas, Earl
of Morthumberland, and his heirs male; default to Henry
Percy, Esq., his brother, to hold in chief.}

A proposal made in 1505 to transfer the bailiwick of
Ennerdale to William's son, Henry § apparently was not
carried out, William being mentioned in the accounts as
bailiff as late as 1594, He died about 1603-4, and in a
particular for a new grant of the office,y dated 19 June,
1004, and addressed to * my Er of Northumblands man
at Westi,” Henry's two sons, Francis and Thomas, are
shown as then being bailiffs, How long they held the
office does not appear. Thomas died in 1622, and Francis
seems to have been then living in London, He was
afterwards of Cockermouth, where he died in 1626, But
the Earl of Northumberland evidently had an eye to the
office, and the next time we find it mentioned, viz, in

= LK. 1/02q, fo. 83,
¥ LR, 8830 anml 383,
$ LB 1f130, bo. G3a.
FL.R, 15/,

IL.E. 8fary

% LLH. 1oy

tcwaas_002_1931_vol31_0021



162 ENNERDALE,

16273-4, it was in the hands of Henry, Earl of Northumber-
land.* and he was succeeded, 12 Feb,, 1632-3, by Algernon,
his son.t

Richard Ashton acted as steward inm 1568 for the
purpose of surveving the manor and re-admitting all the
tenants. Halph Ashton, mentioned above, was appointed
steward, 10 May, 1575, during pleasure; and Thomas
Braithwait, Counsellor-at-law, is said to have held a
Court 15 Sep., too3 (7).}

These were evidently only temporary appointments,
for Henry Patrickson was appointed steward during
pleasure at a fee of gos..§ 26 April, 1568, and he continued
to hold courts till g Oct,, 1603;] and Sir Wilind Lawson
after him from 25 Cet., 10049 till 2 Oct., 1629.** In 1633
Sir Timothy Fetherstonhaugh, Knt., appears as steward, {1
and held courts himself or by his deputy, John Bird,
Gent.,} 1 till 164088 Sir Timothy's father, Henry Fether-
stonhaugh, had married in 1623, as his second wife, Jane,
widow of Thomas Patrickson of Carswell How, and he
owned land in the manor. He had alse unsuccessfully
tried in 1623-4 to obtain a grant of the lordship of the
maner. |||

There is no record of any manor court having been held
between 1041 and 1661, At the Restoration, viz. on
22 Dec., 1660, Charles 11 appointed Richard Tolson, Esq.,
to the office of seneschall and custodian of the Court Leet
and view of frankpledge of the manor during pleasure /9

= LR, 15,
+ LB o frga, fo. sobe

1 Depokitions, Fach, K, R. Camb. Eavler, 6 Jac. 1, Na, 1a,
§ LB 1/02g, fo. 184,

LR, 33/3/65,

% Court Holls, 1658,

= LR 138k,

1 LB BE T

$1 Chan. Pro, Car, 1, T840,

§5 LEL 11 /75/78.

0 Cham, Pro. Secies i, 3488,

TELE. 1/3en
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ENNERDALE. 163

and on 6 Feb., 1662-3 Algernon, Earl of Northumberland,
and Jocelin, Lord Percy, his son, to the office of bailiff of
the liberty of Ennerdale, for the life of the longer liver of
themn,*

Tolson or his deputy, Richard Tubman,t held courts
till 1669, while Henry Ralling} acted as deputy to the
earls till 1670.§ in which year Jocelin died. On 23 June,
1673, Jehn Otway of Gray's Inn was appointed deputy
steward during pleasure, John Lamplugh of Lamplugh,
Esq., to act during his absence;|| and we find this John
Lamplugh, or Edward Lamplugh, Clerk {? hiz brother or
som), holding courts and signing receipts for the fees of the
bailiff as well as of the steward between 1673 and 1681.9
From 1676 the offices of bailiff and steward were vested
in the farmer of the manor for the time being, John,
Duke of Newcastle, drew the fee of 408, as steward in
1704.%*

A list of the graves of the manor, so far as known, is
given in the Appendix. No mention of a grave after 1640
has been found.

From the terms of their appointment the bailifis were
nominally responsible for the whole management of the
manor and forest.$t  In practice their duty seems to have
been confined to the preservation of the game, and the
appointment and oversight of four walking foresters or
rangers, who were each allowed for their fee 2od. p.a., and
winter grazing for sixteen sheep in the Fenece;}l the
steward attending to all other business, The grave had
to collect the rents, as well those of the forest as of the
manor, and pay them to the receiver at Penrith.

"L.K. efrgs, B0, 287 041,

f L.H. 1o/78,goah.

% Rawling, an old Ennerdale family.

§L.E. 1/ 78 posl, 98, 23 asd 9/1.

§ LR, 1/2446, f0. 1ofb.

% LR, 182 0, 938 fohy and 165,

bl 9 T R 1T

11 L.R. i0/5.
i Partlamentary Serveys, Cusnb,, Mo, 5.
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164 ENNERDALE,

There were both red and fallow deer in the forest,
About 1560 the aunditor reported that it
" conteymeth in gquantitie by estimalon a thowsand acres whereln
thers are verie fowe deare at this p'sent but such as resorte
thether oat of other grounds of thearie of Northumberiands
called biirmore adioyning to the p’misses "'*

But in 1z

" Henry fletherston Esq® pticuler STvepot of the County did
certifye to the then Lo, Threr the nomber of acres in that mannec
indoped Ly the tenants b= about jooo according to the Accounts
of acres in that Contry weF are greater then sintute measure and
that the Linds were then worth veerely besides the Hents heryots
and other dutyes and services one hundreth pounds And that
there were then no woods of Accompt but underwoods and some
small saplings nor eny mynes of leade cole or mettall or quarry of
stone witin those grounds And that there is & forest where there
wirg then one hundred red dear and some pt of that forest called
a fence weh is possessed by the floster for a reserve for the dear
bat that the mest pt of the forest §s ground for web the tenants
pay their dale male Rent where the deear have liberty to pastuse
and feed.”"t

The Fence, sometimes called the Side, lay on the south
side of the lake. It iz described in the Parliamentary
Surveyors’ Report as

" All that Parke or parcell of flell ground comenly called or
knowne by the name of Ennerdale Parke ats the fence, fenced
partibe with an old wall, and partlie with ye water called ve
Broadwater, abutting on Balthow to ve Soath, en ye Broadwaier
to ye Morthe, on Hedbecke Close to ye West, and on Silver Coves
or Birkemosse Coves to ye East conteyning by estimalon jzo
acres mone dr legae

p Annt  3aone, oo rosds iijli. wis. wijd.”

The surveyors also stated that there were then cighty
red deer in the forest, worth {80; and that they did not
know what right the Earl of Northumberland had to the
office of bowbearer of the forest, but considered it to be
useless, and they disallowed his fee of {3, 0s. 10d.

* LB, o/
} LR, 185,
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ENNERDALE, 165

In the indenture of sale of the manor, etc. to Lord
Lonzdale in 1822 the Park is said to contain by recent
admeasurement gb1 acres,

The abstract of the IL.P.M. of Thomas Multon of
Egremont, taken B Feb., 1321-2, printed in the Calendar of
Inquisitions, tells us that he held

" Eghnerdale within the fres chace of Coupland fell; f£7. 7. 6.
rent from 26 tenants; 345 40, from pasture; @ vaccaries: f8.
12. B}, from 47 tenants in a place called Kymisheved, a water
mill and fulling mill; rozs. gd. rent from 23 tenants in a place
called Wascedale, 4 vaccaries, a corn mill and & fulling mill,
ph. ™
The original has been stained dark brown with gallwash
and is now mostly illegible, but the following could be
made out, the words in [ ] being restorations:

* de coupland fell xxvj tenentes ad voluntat” qui tenent difea
tehita in eadem & redd” p annd vijli.® vijs. vjd. ad [fest’ Pasche)

& sci Mich. Et est ibidem quedam pastur’ sepal que reddit p ann
xxxiljs. iiijd. vidt ad festd [Pasche vis. viijd. ad festd)]

sci Jnooby xxs, & ad fest’ sci Mich” vja. viijd.  Et sunt ibidem ij
waccaria uwhi dits solebat instaur’ xx (1] aver[ia et valent p ann]

xls. Est etiam infra pdcam chaceam q'dam locus q° vocat’

Kynisheved & sunt ibidem xlvij ten' ad volontat' q° tendt

[disa tefita in eadem)

& redddt p afn viljli. xijs. viijd. ob. ad fnos pxe suprdeos & . . .

- o v [ete]ME

In the abstract of the I.P.M. of Thomas's son, John
Multon, taken 8 Dec., 1334, we read that he held
Egremont, the castle and manor, . . . together with the
undermentioned manors, ete:

" Eynesdale, which is within the free chace of Coapeland f=1l.
Rents [extent given with names of tenants], incloding a rent called
* Dalernal,’ and rents or vaccaries in Braythemyre, the head of
Eynerdale, Kyvnesheved, Eskedale and Miterdale, and a forge;
and there is no sale of onderwosd within the sald lerdship of
Coupland pertaining to the said castle, becayse it is common to
the tenants of the lordship,*§

* The vij B douhtfml. It might b= xij or xvij,

t 15 Ed. 1L, 7.
£ & Bd, TN, gu/r.
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The original is in a worse state than Thomas' inquisition.
The writing, where the Ennerdale entry should be, has
completely scaled off, leaving nothing but a few faint
smudges on a bare skin. But from some mutilated lines
below them we learn that the tenants of Wascedalehead
and Miterdale were “ ad voluntat.” So presumably
thoze of Ennerdale were the same in 1334 as in 1321,

Braythemyre is now Broadmoor Plantation, and the
head of Eynerdale is doubtless the modern Gillerthwaite.
Two hundred and twenty years later, when we next get
detailed information about the manor, all the tenants
held by tenant right. It is clear that Queen Mary, as
well as her next two successors, wished to convert these
holdings into leasehold. For on 3 March, 1557-8, ie,
shortly after the death of Anthony Patrickson, senior, she
demised the tenements he had held, viz.:—Carswell How,
Woodside, Birkley, Redbeckclose, Riggside, the water
corn mill, and fishing in Fellbecke and Broadwater [i.e. the
lake] to Christopher Morrys, a groom of her chamber, for
forty years at the yearly rent of so0s. ofd.* This was
irregular; customary estates could only be transferred by
surrender and admittance in Court; and it was upset by
Elizabeth. The auditor reported later on that Morrys
had never enjoyed the premises,t and that they had ever
singe passed from heir to heir under the rent and fine
accustomed. And so we find them recorded in the first
survey as demised to Morrys, but in the second survey as
held by William Patrickson according to the custom of
the manor,

On 14 Nov., 1560 Elizabeth appointed commissioners to
survey her lands in Ennerdale and induce the tenants to
accept leases for forty years.,} But they refused, saying
it was contrary to their custom to have any grant for a

* 1L.B. 1/130, fo. 78a.
TL.R, a8,
i LR 1/%39, B2, 640,
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term of years of any customary lands, the tenants of
Ennerdale protesting that ** they had never hard the name
of a lease before the manor came into the hands of the
Crowne bat always held by tennant right according to the
Custome of the Contrye,” and they presented their
petition:

“ The humble suet of the said tennants ys that v wold please
the Court of the excheguier to consider their custome and be a
meane to have the same confirmed ¥ wold encorage them to serve
willingly apon the border as they are bound to deo by their
Custome at their osne costs and chasdgs they wold incloss their
grounds severally wtb quycksetts acconding to the poymtment of
the statute and pay their fynes or gressums at chaonge of Losd
and tenant witout defanlt and piorm all other things on their pte
to bir olserved amd kept by thelr customs, **

Elizabeth gave way., On 1 July, 1563 she had leased
to John Senhouse Croftfoot and other temements in
Ennerdale for 21 years, " he paying the rents therein
contained,” which letters patent were granted to the said
John Senhouse ' to the use of the tenants inhabiting upon
the same.” Senhouse, contrary to the trust imposed
upon him, sold his title therein to John Lamplugh, Esq.,
who was called before the Lord Treasurer, 10 June, 1564,
and, * refusing to stand to the order of the Court touching
the tenmant right in the said manor,” was committed to
the Fleet. And it was ordered that all the tenants were
to enjoy their tenant right as heretofore.t And so on
1z Feb., 1567-8 the Queen appointed Richard Ashton,
Ezq., Receiver-General of Crown Lands in Cumberland,
Allan Bellingham, Esq., Anthony Barwise, Esq., George
Lamplugh, Esq., and John Dalston, Ezq., to survey again
the manor of Ennerdale.l They were to follow the
previous survey, unless found imperfect, and to demise by
Copy of Court Roll such of the tenements as had heretofore

* Misc. Books, Amgmentation Offioe, 4o, p. 6374

t Decreid and Orders, Trin, 6 Eliz,, Se. i, Vol. 1a, #2, 58,
1 BISS. peway M. Geonge Dickizson.
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68 ENNERDALE.

been let by Custom called Tenant right, at the old rents
and according to the old customs; to determine matters
of controversy, and make rules for the well ordering and
government of the tenants and future letting of the lands.
All such customs, rules, etc., were to be entered in the
Court Rolls and renewed by the presentment of the
tenants every third or fourth year, and newly recorded.
Provided that no tenement, the yearly value of which
exceeded 265, 8d., was to be let by copy of Court Roll.

The Commissioners (except Bellingham) assembled on
the 3 April, 1568 and swore in twelve of the * Ancientest
and Sagest Tennants' of the manor, who declared the
customs. These were that

Time out of mind their lands had beon held by tenant right.

Om the death of a tenant his tenement cught to descend to his
gon and heir; defaolt to his eldest daughter.

O change of tenant or of Lard a fine or gressam of two years'
rent was payahle.

No tenant counld cut down any great timber but by the consent
of the officer,

Every tenant ought to have horss and armour for service on the
border upon every commandment.

Temants ought to keep their buildings in repair and enclose
their grounds with quickssts at their own charges.

“Tenants owed suit of Court,

No tenant could alienate any part of his tenement without the
licence of the steward. But for reasonable cause, and with
licence, he could surrender his farmhold to other uses in open
Couart; or, if necessity required, before the grave and four of the
tenants; the same to be prescoted to the steward at the nex
Couart; but not by will,

No tenant coubd divide his holding, whether by grant op
surrender,

A widow was entitled to half her late hasband®s holdings during
widowhood, if she lived honestly and chastely, she paying the
sccustomed rent and the best quick beast her hesband died
possessed of, or else Bs., as a heriot; but no fine, If she re.
married, the next of kin to the child, to whom the lands could not
descend, to have the government of the child during the nonage of

sixteen years.
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All eontroversies concerning titles of custom to be tried by a
Jury of the manor, and the elaimant to put in his pawn of gos. for
prnu! therenf b-!.r triml.

A tenant found guilty of felony or petty michery forfeited his
tenement.

Tenants were entitled to great timber for their fire houses and
barns, to hareowhoote and ploughboote, at the discretion of the
L Hficer.

Every tenant in his turn had to act as grave and collect the
rents, as well of the forest as the manor, and pay them to the
recaiver it his own charges,

If any tenant died, and his son and heir did not claim his title
within a year and a day after belng within the Realm, the Losd
could admit the mext of biood tenant,

Amad the tenants accepbed the (usen’s conditions, and she their
cusgboms, and they were all re-admitted as costeamary tenants, and
paid two years reat as a gressum, and on the 1o May, 1568 the
floeen called for the Commisioners' report and inspected it.*

The jury also presented that there were no demesne lands in the
manor, that from time out of memery all the lands had been held
by tenant right, and that they and their ancestors had alwiys
had within the forest certain agistments or common of pasture,
cialled Dale male,

In the first survey, made 1558-60, one cottage is
mentioned, called Moorside, held by John Jenkinson of
Cragg at the rent of 12d. p.a. But in the 1676 survey it is
stated that there were then no lands in the manor held by
lease or in fee farm, and no cottages.

In saying there were no demesne lands the jurors meant
no arable demesne lands, Thus there were no boon
services to be performed. But the Lord had a certain
franchise, recorded in the Parliamentary Survey, viz.
that

" his deere hath libertie to feed and depastare withowt ve said
Parke or flence in any of the grounds belonging to ye Tenants of
wo sald Lo™ or any parte thereof without let or molestalon which
wee esteemns o be worth p Anni xiijs. iijd.”

That, said the Parliamentary Surveyors, and the rent
of Ennerdale Park, worth f4. 6s. Bd., or £5 in all, were

* LK, i i45, o8 §63-15d
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all the demesnes then in possession. How the tenants
of Gillerthwait dealt with the deer when they broke into
their enclosures will be found in Cumbriana, by Mr.
William Dickinson, pp, 1650,

The actual amounts received each year by the Lord, as
disclosed in the accounts, vary considerably, but we can
form from them a fairly accurate estimate of the ammwsl
value of this small manor in Tudor and Stuart times,
Thus:

£ o= d.
The rent of Carswell How with the water corn mill
[204.} and other tenements usnilly held with it 2 Io of
(rher fineable rents of nesize, Ve = iy 414 T
Dalemale rent, ot fireable | . 2 b i 2 & B
Grodd pormal farm of the manor £ o i 23 1T 4
Fixed reprises:—Fes for bailifl 3 o 1o
4 foresters o 6 B
stewanl 2 o o
5 7 0
Met normal farm of the manor wi o o 1B 3 10
Add: Gressums & heriots 4 O @0
averape
Parquisites of Coart I- pa. say 1 111 o
Franchise for the deer | P 1 o I¥ 4
6 4 4

Estimated net annual value | . v i o g B o3

-

As stated above, the Park or Fence was let in 1650 for
£4. 6s. 8d. pa., and no doubt there were some casual
profits from the game and minerals. In 1680 Cueen
Catherine allowed 135, 4d. yearly for the homagers'
dinners, and a charge of 25 for the Clerk of the Court
occasionally occurs.

It is doubtful if the 345, 4d. rent paid for pasturage in
I321-2 18 the same as the rent called Dalemale in John
Multon's inquisition, for that pasturage was held in

tewaas_002_1931_vol31_0021



ENNERDALE. I71

severalty. Im the 16th century and after, Dalemale, or
Moormale, was a lump sum of {12, 6s. 8d. payable to the
Lord yearly at Martinmas by the tenants conjointly for
their common of pasture or agistments of cattle on all the
commens and wastes of Ennerdale except the fence.
It was a quit, dry or free rent, not fincable, and was
collected by the grave into the dalemale dish from the
tenants, who managed the matter themselves.

A M5, rental of the manor, fenes Mr, George Dickinson
of Red How, to whom we are greatly indebted for much
information, tells ws how this was done.  Portions of the
fell grounds owver which the tenants had grazing rights,
more especially at Gillerthwaite and Broadmoor, where,
it will be remembered | there were once vacearies, had been
enclosed, probably during Elizabeth's reign in virtue of
the leave given to the steward in 1568 to make new rules
for the well ordering and government of the tenants and
future letting of the lands. These having been taken out
of the wastes, for the whole rent of which the tenants were
responsible, the occopiers paid rent for them to the
tenants as part of the Dalemale, viz. for four tenements at
Gillerthwait, each 135, 4d., or 535, 4d. in all, for Braimer
[Broadmoor] 138, 4d.. Upperholm 135, 4d., Outerholm
12, od., Howholm 2d., Birkmoss 45 od., Caswellholn
135. 8d., Fell Yeat Cloze 4d., Wasdalehead 35, 44., and
three grasslands 1s. 6d. The balance, f£7. 2s. 8d., was
collected from the tenants generally, including the occu-
piers of the above mentioned assarts, according to the
number of their goods pasturing on the fells, viz. for
each horse 6d., for each rother beast 3d., and for every
ten sheep 3d.,

By Queen Elizabeth's grant an admittance to a
customary tenement included a right to a share in the
Dalemale, but it is nowhere stated how or by whom
tenants of these assarts were admitted. At seweral
inguiries held in 1609 to 1611 (see below) no one scemed
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to know. They were not customary tenants. A corrupt
note among Mr. Dickinson™s M55, dated 1825, says

* The ancient Castom time ont of Memoryall this Dalemale
rumted Grownd the owner at his Death the next Hedr was found in
Cost ns Occupier of such a Parcell of Dalemale Rent And upon an
Alenation was either surrendersd in open Coart or before the
Grave and four Tennants may be found in the Court Rolls in the
yoar 1676, in vhyg in 1681 and in 682"

Roger Fryer in 1009 said they were admitted by the
steward and tenants, as he had heard.*

Such admittances, not being fineable, are not recorded
in any estreats of the Court Rolls that have been dis-
covered, which enly record money received. The manor
Court, however, was clearly used to inflict fines on those
who offended against the Dalemale customs; and these
fines were credited to the lord of the manor. Tenants
were fined for keeping cattle or horses ** supra le dale-
malle,” or * in the daile after Michaelmas,” or * keeping
sheepe in the Daileground contrary to the Custome of the
manor ' and in 1676 John Tiffin was fined 3s. for * not
giveing a true account of his goods att Daile Maile."”
Thus, in gpite of the constant claims of the tenants to have
pasturage on the fells without stint, it seems that, for
part of the Dalemale ground at least, there was a close
season, and some limit to the number of goods each tenant
could pasture on them. John Tiffin's case suggests that
they were asked to declare the number they grazed.

In 16i2g the auditor made an estimate of the number of
animals in the manor.t Finding that the fineable rents
in 1568 amounted to {10, 11s. 6dd., or say 211 shillings,
and that three small holdings, each of the rent of 1s., had
each an agistment for one horse, two cattle and sixty
sheep, he concluded that, at that rate of rent, there would
be 211 horses, 422 cattle and 12,660 sheep in the manor,
This was a palpable overestimate. The three holdings

* Barons® Diepoditions, B1/ys.
T L E. 18/
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were small grazings, parcel of Redbeckelose and Nether-
holm, and were held by John, Foger and Anthony, sons of
Anthony Patrickson, semior, in virtue, it 15 thought, of
certain grazing rights some of the temants of Kelton held
in Ennerdale (see below p. 183); and they may have had a
greater agistment, proportionate to the rent, than other
tenements in the manor, Probably a truer estimate
would be amrived at by ascertaining how many beasts’
grazing £7. 25, 8d. (see p. 171) would pay for at the rates
stated above; orsay 4o horses, 160 cattle and 3,310 sheep.
This would give about 1 horse, 4 cattle and 8o sheep to
each custormnary tenement,

Another rent, the origin of which is not known, is
mentioned only in the Dickinson MS., which says:

oo :F'.'.'r:r].' Costomary Tenement -_!l:-l:-:-]'.-‘I:ing Thres Brother Stints,
Braimer, Broadwater, Follbecks, Mills, Redbeck Closs, Birkley
pays over and above the fineable rents sixpence anciently called
Casall tree rent withoot which the Lord's rent cannot be made wp
bedng £23. 10, 4. Due to the Losd September zoth,”

The auditors, however, never mention this rent, which
suggests that, like Dalemale, the sum of £23. 115, 4d. was
a fxed amount that the Lord expected the tenants con-
jointly to make up.

Elizabeth, having in 1568 come to terms with her
tenants, loyally left them in peace. But James I re-
opened the question of their tenure, maintaining that
tenant right had ceased with border service on the union
of the crowns. Commissioners were appointed to make
compositions with temants willing to change their
customary holdings into freehold estates of inheritance,
or for reducing arbitary fines to certainty. The Com-
missioners were to consider with the tenants what his
Majesty would lose and what they would gein, and offer
so many years purchase, when they would be granted
their lands by letters patent under the great seal signed
by his Majesty, in fee farm, to them and their heirs, at the
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same rent as they then paid, to be holden in socage by such
services ag should be found fit and most commodious for
them,*

The real meaning of this alluring offer may be gathered
from a mutilated note written below a [? duplicate]
receipt by the receiver for the rent of the manor of Enner-
dale, dated 20 June, 6o,

Yoo s . knowledge to all the tenfajnts webin yof office to be at
Lopdon . . . . to take leases of theie tedts for |x peares i they
pll,-.a.l.eur. sy .gummd.tnathzmﬁﬂeyrd'lm."f

In hopes of thereby obfaining a greater profit all
admittances were for many years suspended and arrears
of fines accumulated.;  In Oct.-Now,, 1623 the customary
tenants of Crown manors were again summoned to London
by the following circular letter:

" to the intent that crder may be taken with thom or eny one
of them for the infranchising of their Coppyhold & custumary
cstates to be made {rechold & opon reasonable compoaicon to be
granted to them & their heires by letters patent in fes farme at
their old Rents wi reservacon of Socage tenure And also that
such others whose fynes are arbitrable or questionable shall
upon the compesicon have their fynes reduced o a constant
certenty in sach manner as their own Coansell shall devise for their
securety to free them from all future gquestion thegein, Thelse
are thesefor ©o make knowen anto you his Ma tenants of ihe
Mannar of ———— {whom we understand to be wibin the power
of this Comission) his Ma¥ most gracious intention toward® vou
requiring vou by some of yotselwes sufficiently instrocted and
aunthorized for the rest to come & appesere before s &t his Mat
Court of Excheq® Chamber at Westminster the — day of Novem-
ber next coming That upon conference with you to the parpose
aferesaid you may ether pocepto of his Mal grace intended fog
yof quiet & good upen the Condicons to be oflered unboe yon or
atherwise his Ma'™ may be informed of yof refusall thereol for
such farther conrse to be taken therein as in his highnes wisdome
shalbe thought fitt. And soe requiring wou not to faile of v
appearance at the tyme Hhixed wee hidd you farewell. 1 Oct
16z

LR, 5 /141, 80, 16R, t L.B. a5f3/ 7. I LR 1o/

§LE. gft/ep. What composition Ennerlale offmed doss ot appear;

but some temants elsewhem offsred hall a year's purchase, while 1ke Crown
anked for as much &8 sixty,
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We have the reply of Holm Cultram.

" Bl the Truthe is about ten yerces since we and the rest of the
Coppyholders there were inforced much against of mynds to
dizgbuirse o grete some of monye to his highnes for Confyrmaton of
of apcyent Custome to the grete imporishinge of the most pt of
the Tendits of the said L soe as we are not able wihout of forther
wndoinge to purchas any further estait in of Tenem!® bat humblye
praye that his Ma% and Counsell wylbe pleased that we may be
spared from further porchase of o Tenem™ being not able as
afforesd to extend of ==lves any further for the same purpes: and
=0 desyringe of apparance in the excheg at a day to Come may be
spared in respect we Can then give noe further answere herein
we take Leave and rest yor worps in all datye to Comand

John Chambser
Peerythe this Eaburt hodgson
28 of October hagh Stamfseall (7} **®

1hz23.

Ennerdale asked for time, as all their writings were in
the hands of the widow of Thomas Patrickson, late
deceazed, who had had the presecution of their basimess
committed to him;$ and the steward, Sir Wilfrid Lawson,
thought he had induced them to agree to the terms offered.
But the tenants got wind of a proposal to lease the manor
to one of the King's Scotch retainers} and Sir Wilirid had

to report, 19 April, 1624, that

" it beinge given out here of late that his ma' hath granted the
EATEE [i,q, the manor of Ennerdale] in fee farme or otherwise to
such a3 Thomas Patrickson in his lyfe tyme, as [¢ seometh, dealt
witgll, about the same, they are 2o fallen of and asunder that for
anythings 1 can leame they neither mymd the plormance of that
wik yias then promised, nor to dos themselves any good, as this
t=earer Mr Sledall can ptly informe yo®, to whose report [ leave the
rest and pray by him | may understand what is Gt by me to be
done therin,”'§

The lease, however, was not made. Instead James I,
on 15 June, 1624, granted the manor and forest, except

* LR 9/0/5

¥ LR, 865,

t Cham, Pro. Ser. iy 34878, and these Trans zav, p. 143
§L.E. ofa/yir.
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the three mills, to Sir Henry Herbert and others in trust
for the Prince of Wales; to hold for g4 years.* And in
Nov,, 1bz4, "' the temants being called to the prince's
Counsell table in fletestrete were dismissed and allowed to
continue their estates in peace as formerly.”

Soon after, the judges ruled that the tenants were
entitled to hold by tenant right, and the King died.
Charles, wanting money, directed 11 Nov., 1626,1 that
surrenders were to be taken and admittances granted as
before, and collected all arrears of fines both on surrenders
and on the death of King James.§

Having cut off the King's head, Parliament fined all the
tenants of Ennerdale two years rent on the death of the
lord of the manor.! This was, doubtless, according to
customn, It is not recorded that Charles IT did the same
on the death of Cromwell.  That would have admitted too
much.

Queen Catherine was badly served by her Council and
abominably treated by her lessees. Little she got from
her manor of Ennerdale; in some years nothing. The
manor, except the forest and mines, was leased, 29 July,
1676, to Charles, Lord Grey of Rolleston, for three lives
at the net rent of {zo. 15, 2d.Y He was also appointed
** keeper of the forest and of the deer and other game ™ at
the usual fee for the bailiff and foresters. Two or three
years later he assigned his lease, without the knowledge
of the Council, to Francis, 2nd Lord Holles, who was
succeeded on his death, 1 March, 168g-go, by his son,
Denzil, 3rd Lord Holles. Both were much behind with
their rent. In spite of many promises to pay by Denzil
and his agent, Mr. Guideott, arrears amounted to {70 in
1603, and a process was issued. Denzil, however, died

* Dunion, Acoompl, p. 167,

LK. /s

{ LR o/8/42.

§ LR, 113

I Parllamentasy Seevers, Cumb., Mo, 5.
7 L.R., /837, fo. 15I
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the next year when Mr. Patrickson*® petitioned for the
manor. But Denzil's cousin and heir, John, Earl of
Clare and Duke of Newcastle, claimed the right, and
Patrickson gave way, but asked to be appointed  Bow-
bearer as he and his ancestors had been in ve said Forrest
fior which he was appointed to attend at the House of
Lords upon the Lord Marquis of Halifax and the Earl of
Fevershamt to dizscourse that matter with the said
Duke.” And Mr. Aunsten, the bailiff and deputy steward
of Holm Cultram, was directed to certify the quantity and
value of the march lands there not possessed by any
proprietor having a grant from the Crown. It is not
recorded what Patrickson got, but the Duke, having paid
£50 on account, and promizsed the balance of the arrears
within fourteen days, secured the manor, and then ceased
further payments, Two vears later the Council took
steps to find another tenant. This bronght Mr, Guideott
again on the scene. The Duke would be in town in
a fortnight; if the Council would respite proceedings all
arrears would then be paid up; he had already told the
Duke's agents to prepare their accounts. The Council
gave way with the inevitable result. By Aug. 1607 their
patience was ¢xhausted and they summoned up courage
to write to the Duke himselfi:

“ Our very good Lord

Somerset House 200 Aogh ‘g7.

Wi find by the Accompt of Basil Folldlng late Receiver af her
Ma® the Chosen Dowags Hevenue in ye Gwnt}'ql'l:umb'lnnd et af
That yof Grace owes at Michas last for ye Rent of the
Mannof of Ennerdale in the said County of Combland at zeli. 1s.
2d. paf the same of 6eli. 155 ed,  And for ye Farme Rent of the
Manpor & Bailywick of Hitchin in the County of Hertford at
Bali. s, ifd. p and at Michas last as by the accompt of John

Duncombe the Receiver appeares 28511 159, 10d. Both the of
sup in the whaols amat to 340, 12, 1o0d.

* Probably Joseph of Carswell How, or Thomas, his son, bui posaibly
Rithard of Caldes Abbsy.
1 Two meembers of the Qosen’s Couneal,
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Your Grace gave an assurance that upon ye passing the late
Act for the paying of the late Lord Holles his Debts the sd Arrears
& sufl should be paid off. And Mf Guideott who hath been long
interested in this Concerne hath many times promised the Clearing
& 'p:l.y'i.ng thereof. Bot hitherto hath failed: Wherefors we now
apply to yof Grace for the paym! of the said arrease due as
aforesd Of wob we can no waies doubt having yof Graces promiss
for the same,  'We desire yor Graces answer to the fimisses by the
first opportunity directed to Richard Marnott Clerk of the
LCouncel at Somerset House &5 be #&mtﬂd £ us, wo s all at

p'eont from
vorf Graces Homble Servants
Feversham F. Bellings Johm Hall.™
W, Montagu Cha, Fox

This appeal had not the slightest effect.  The Duke did
not answer it, or pay the arrears, or even take the trouble
to renew his lease. But he kept the manor, and all the
Council could do was to tell Mr, Marryvott to let Mr.
Guideott know they were much dissatisfied. In 1704, the
wvear before the Cueen died and the last yvear for which we
have the accounts, the Duke owed the Queen, for Enner-
dale only, £132. 135 6d. On his death without issue in
1711, he was succeeded as lessee of the manor by his
nephew and heir, Thomas Holles Pelham, Duke of
Newcastle, who died in 1768, Three years earlier, as
stated above (p. 158), the manor and forest were leased
to Sir James Lowther,

Of the inhabitants of the manor only ene mention prior
to 1500 has been found.

At Easter 1305 Alice, who was the wile of John of Eynesdals
appealsd against Nicholas Gryme, Roger Patryhson, Gilbert
henrysone, Robert del Hure, Thomas del Hure, Hobert Casse and
Thomas Forster of Cockermouth for harbouring John Pieresson
Tsabelson, Peter Johonson Pieresson, John Piercsson Johonkyms
son and William Fyssher of lboweswatre, who were outiawed for
the death of the sid John of Eynerdale, her hushand. *

In 1514-5 Foger Rodery was grave of the manor and
rendered his account, viz. £23. 125, 54d. for the farm and

® Cesasn Elege 536, m. 1o, Easter 18 Bie. 11,
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rents, 11s. 2d. for perquisites of Court, 2os. 8d. for
gressums, and 23 2d, for the wages of four walking
foresters.*®

The muster roll of 1534-5 gives us the names of all the
men of military age then in the manor,

“ Thes Ar the Naymis of the men Wythe In ERdaylle In the
prycheyng of Sante Bees.
George  Byrkemoss
Roff Wad
Joha Dyedson

John Craythome
Thes Be Bowemen YWE Jaks Sallets & Mo horsys

Anthony paytrykeson

Ref Rog’

Roberte fAetcher

John berescon

Thomas Craythome

John Tayror

John Iytylidayle

Thomas [ytylldayle

John Tayzor zongd

Wyhm Iytylidayle

Thomas harrys

Thomas Wyllson

W}!H,Tn Boweman

John Jeakyneon

‘Wylim Rychardson

Thomas Wyllkyt Bychardson

John Rychardson

Wylm Alanson
Ruodre

John Rodfe

John Hog'

Wikm Wod

John Weod

Dage harrys

Rotserte Todie

WiyHm Clyfton

Thes Be Byllmen havyng Jaks Sallets & No horsys

= Add, Charter, 24431
1 wyllkym.
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Roff patrykesan Thes Ar zongmen

John Rotherso havyng Bowe
f",’;ltl';’h"'d:;}}" & Arro . . . . (paper tom)
Thomas higeson A

Gearge Iytylldalle 1

John Iytylldalle Thes Be Byllmen

Jobin Iytylidalle { havyng No harnes.
Boberte Alanson

Thomas Wod®

Here we have twenty surnames.  In the survey made
efrea 1500 the names of Sharpe, Williamson, Bragg and
Dixon are found in addition, and in the survey of 1563
that of Benson. These were the oldest known Ennerdale
families, The Frears, Hirds, Hunterhows, Normans,
Rawlings, Tiffins, Towersons, &te., do not occur till some-
what later,

In 1608 Ennerdale started a law suit with the neigh-
bouring manor of Kelton, which lasted for nearly four
vears. About 1507 some of the tenants of Ennerdale had
enclosed eighty acres of the Ennerdale wastes adjoining
Kelton, known as Bennefell, Gavelfell and Middlefell,
The tenants of Kelton came by night and laid open again
all but twenty acres, claiming that they had always had
the right to common of pasture without stint on all the
Ennerdale fells as well as those of Kelton,

So at Easter 1608 William Littledale of Mireside,
William Rawling of Laverick Hall, William Jenkinson of
Crosdale, Nicholas Williamszon of the Mereend, John
Fogers of the same, and John Littledale of Houton, on
behalf of the tenants of Ennerdale, filed their bill at
Westminster against Anthony Patrickson of Stockhiow,
William his son, John Robertson of the Leyes, Anthony
Fox of the Gill, and the other tenants of Kelton, Anthony
Patrickson, who at that time was farmer of the manor of

® Each. Aecis. Certificate of Musiers, 540/1%,
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Kelton, pleaded that Elizabeth Morms, Lady of that
manaor, then in ward to the king, and her ancestors, had
always had common of pasture in Ennerdale for themselves
and their customary tenants without stint. But that some
years previously the temants of Ennerdale had elected
a jury to survey and fix the boundaries of the commaons of
Ennerdale, and had caused one William Littledale* a
blind man, one of the tenants of the manor, to be lad
which way they intended the boundary should go, and set
it down as he directed. The plaintifis, on the other hand,
maintained that the Kelton tenants generally had no
grazing rights in Ennerdale.  Anthony only had pasturage
there in right of a small cattlegate, of which he was a
customary tenant at a rent of 124, When the Kelton
cattle trespassed on the Ennerdale wastes, they had been
turned back, and the owners fined; which fines had been
paid.

In June, 1608 the Court ordersd that the tenmants of
Ennerdale were to be allowed to enjov their enclosures,
and the tenants of Kelton their pasturage in Ennerdale,
till the case was heard, and that an inquiry was to be
held. Tt resulted in seven inguiries, of five of which we
have the record,  The first wag held zo May, 1600, and the
second at Kendal © Sep., 16og, both on behalf of the
defendants, whose own witnesses only were examined., A
third inquiry, of which there is no record, took place at
Isell on behalf of the plaintifis, probably before Sir
Wilfrid Lawson, the then steward of the manor.  'Whether
for some irregularity in these inquiries, or because the
plaintiffs had committed a breach of the order not to
molest the defendants’ grazing, of which order the
plaintiffs said they had not been notified, when the case
came on for hearing at Westminster in Nov., 160, the
Court directed that new commissions should be issued.

* Probably the father of tha William Litelade of Misekide, the Grat named
plainiell in the cas.

tcwaas_002_1931_vol31_0021



1hz ENNERDALE.

A fourth inquiry was accordingly held at Ennerdale
Church, 2o Jan., 1609-10, on behalf of the plaintiffs, and a
fifth and sixth at Cockermouth, on 15 June and 26 Sep.,
1610, on behall of the defendantz, At the last it was
stated that another inquiry had been held at York on
behalf of the plaintiffs,

When the case again came on for hearing, viz. on 31
Oct., r611, the plaintiffs never turned up, and the defen-

dants were granted [5 costs, A fortnight later Thomas
Patrickson appeared and deposed

* that be being entreated by the sayd Complaynaunts to solicite
the sayd Canse on their Behalfe and being interested in dywverse
temements of both the sayd mannoers of Enerdals and Kelton, did
move dywerse of tbc:aidpu:ﬁe-sandtcnm‘l:lqd’bnﬁsidum
make & frefndly end of the sawd suite without putting the poore
tenants to any other charges and expences [sé¢) and foumnd dyverse
of them very willing and consenting to the same mocion, and 0
relying therupon and thinking that the same canse by his meanes
would have been ended withowt any further trouble to eyiber
partie, did not provide for the hﬂ:in,g theresaf at the tyme wihen
the same was appoynted to be hearde, and that he lad wo koow.
lelge of the same daye, And that the said Anthony Patrickson
one of the defendants who did maynteyne and followe the sayd
cawss on the behalfe of the rest of the sald defendants did tell the
sabd deponent that he had no knowledge of the daye of hearing
of the sayd cause, ete., etc., so that neyther he nor any other came
of purpose to prosecute or attend the sayd canse,” etc.

Most of the evidence given was merely assertions that
Kelton had or had not rights of pasturage in Ennerdale,
but a few interesting bits occur.

In Jan, 160g-10, a William Crathorne of Banklands
in Ennerdale, yeoman, aged g2, deposed that

" be knew the boonds for he was at the riding of them in the

Logd Marquls® time,""

“To the & Interrog, he saithe that he doth know the bounders
of the commons moores and waistes of the & maf or forrest of
Enerdalle to begin att a plaice called Water Cragge nouke adicn.
inge to Crosedell becke and from thence up the becke called
Crosedellbecke to Mearegill focte and s0 upp the Measegill to the
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Mearegillhead and 20 from thencs yneallye to o plaies called the
hight of Sadlemoore Knotte and from thence Iyneallye to hease-
gilbeade and so to the overpene af Midlefell and he saithe that he
knowethe these s4 seffall plaloes to be the trewe boonders amd
scants (7} of the said commons menes and waists of the 2 maf of
enerdell and be salthe he hath knowne the said several plaices to
b= the trews bounders of the 59 commons or moores of Enerdell of
glnee the lord Margues his tyme."'®

When the tenants of Kelton let their cattle stray onto the
Ennerdale wastes, they were fined in the Ennerdals Conrt and
padd,

Gabriel Iredell, Clerk of Ponsonby, aged 76, deposed:

He confirms the bounders given by William Crathorne. He
was Clerk of the Court held in Ennerdale, at which Henry Patrick-
#on was steward, who impinnelled a jury of the eldest men in the
forest to try the bounds betwssn Ennerdale and Eelton, who
found them as above stated,

Ellioner Morrow of Soskell, par. Loweswater, aged gz,
deposed :

She had Eknown Ennerdals common for So years: for 8o
FrUirs ago she kept her father’s sheep on the said moors, and then
the poods of the tenants of Helton never came into the commons
of Ennerdale to her knowledge.  If they did, they were driven
ek,

Roger Jenkinson of Kelton, aped 48, =aid

* he had seen Anthony Patrickson, the father, follow his own
goods himself on the Ennerdale wastes "

John Dickinson of Hunterhow, aged 70, said

* Willinm Litledell went the bounds by the anthority of M
Henry Patrickson, the steward of the manor, and by the pro-
curement of the tenants of the manor, the sakd Henry Patriclkson
ke=ing then pressnt; and ke did naver know nor see the like before.”

This case could have been settled locally in a few hours
had any one troubled to inspect the Court Rolls and

surveys of the manor, They would have found that the
Patricksons of Stockhow held three grass lands or cattle
* This i not the existing boandary between Ennerdals and Kelton. It cuts

off from Kelion over a bopdred acres Iyving between Coomdbse Gill and Sadbiers
Bl
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gates at Redbeck,* and that certain tenements at Winder
and Rowrah also held some grazing rights in Ennerdale,
no doubt a relic of the time when Kelton and Ennerdale
were both owned by the same lord. In Mr. Dickinson's
M55, we find mention of " Winder and Rowrah grass
lands,” and * Rowrah Brother Stints,” This right was
evidently a source of irritation to the Ennerdale tenants,
and in every extant estreat of Court Eoll between 1558
and z610, several of these Kelton tenants are fined
for letting their sheep stray on the King's pasture or.on
the common. The fact that they paid these fines shows
that they owned some rights in Ennerdale of which they
could be deprived for defanlit; but the claim of Anthony
Patrickson, that all the Kelton tenants had common of
pasture in Ennerdale without stint, was absurd. The
enclosures were evidently made by the licence of the
steward, in virtue of the power granted him by Cueen
Elizabeth in 1565 to make ruleés for the better letting of the
lands.

There were formerly three mills in Ennerdale. Omn
2 Aug., 1610, the king granted to Edward Ferrers of
London, mercer, and Francis Philipps, Gent.,#

“all that our watermill in Ennerdale, now or late in the
tenure of James Milner; rent 2s. Pk and all that watermill in
Ennerdale, now or late in the tesure of Anthony Patrickson:
rent zos. pai; and all that fulling mill in Ennerdale; rent gs,
pa. to bold for eves, as of oor manor of East Gresnwich, in

It is doubtful if this grant stood, for we find tenants
paving fines to the lord of the manor on admission to these
mills in 1618 and 1626, and in 1665 the second named mill
was granted to Queen Catherine. Yet in a particular of
the value of the manor, dated 7 July, 1628, it is stated
that there * are three mills of the yerely rent of xxvijs.

* Sen p. 17
1 Francis Philipps was one of the Crown andlices.
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w are granted in fee farme and no parcel of this
value,*"

James, the miller, alias James Williamson, held the
first named mill, together with a tenement of =ix acres
called Moorend, in 1560, at a total rent of 33. 83d..t and
Micholas Wiliamson, his lineal descendant, held Middle
Moorend, rent 33, Bdd., and Low Moorend, rent 1s. 84d.,
in 1825,1 a good record for one family, Nicholas™ grand-
son, Mr. James Williamson, is the present tenant of
Haounton.

The second, a corn mill, generally called Ennerdale Mill,
iz always found in the sccupation of the Patricksons, so
long as they lived at Carswell How. It was burnt down
soon after 1671 and rebuilt by Thomas Patrickson.§
Where the fulling mill was, or who ever occupied it, 18
nowhere stated, [t and the corn mill are mentioned in
the I.P.M., taken 1350-1, of Walter de Bermingham, the
second husband of Elizabeth, sister of John Multon, as
having been held by her.  The entry, which is very faded,
1%

* [mo] lend’ ad Blad’ que valet p A= diij* Etestabad®. . . . .

molend’ ful' que valet p a™ ijs Mijd, Placita ad .

fillegitlel.||

We find no mention of the Chapel of Ennerdale till 1534,
when William, Abbot of 5t. Mary of York, granted the
right to bury there on account of its great distance from
the mother church of 5t. Bees; provided the inhabitants
maintained the curate, the chapel and its ornaments at
their own charges, and paid their tithes, etc.y At the
Reformation it was granted with the tithes to Sir Thomas
Leigh, the visitor,** whose widow carried them to her

* LR, 105,

LR 1afy5

§ Dachinson MES,

§ Chan. Pro. Reyaardaon, g88/51.

| L.F.M. 2¢ Bd, I1T; 11003,

T 5% Bass Chartalary, Na. 1.
== fild, p. G00.
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second husband, Sir Themas Chaloner; and he, in 1549,
leased the tithes of Ennerdale and Kinniside for 21 years,
subsequently extended by his son for a further 50 years,
at a rent of {24. 135 4d., to Anthony Patrickson, whose
family tock the profits till about 1618; when, claiming
that the orginal lease was for 31 years, and that there
were still ten years to run, they were ejected by Thomas
Wibergh, to whom the tithes had been sold in 1599 by Sir
Thomas Chaloner, the younger,.*

Themas Patrickson first brought an action against
some of the Kinniside tenants, with whom Wibergh had
compounded, serving them, as he deposed,

" with & writ of subpoena sealed with the great seal of England,
by showing unto them the said Nicholas Towerson and John
Lambe the same writ scabled and delivering them the Labels of
the Returne thereof, and by fixing on the door of the dwelling
bouse of the said James Sharpe, in the presence of the sabd
Sharpe’s wife, the subpomna itself sealed, which was for their
appearance in this Court at Easter last at this doponents suit.
8 May, 1618}

5o Thomas Patrickson thought to force the tenants to
journey to London, but they countered him by arranging
for enquiries to be held at Brougham and other distant
places, when he was in town or attending on Sir George
Dalston as under Sheriff, and eould not be present;? and
in Now., 1620, he gave up the case.§ He then proceeded
against Wibergh and twenty Ennerdale tenants, obtaining
an order that they were to pay their tithes to him; but
with no better success. The tenants not only refused
payment but said * in most contemptuous manner they
would never abide or perform any order thereafter to be
made in the Court of Chancery conceming the said
tithes."[| Litigation was put a stop to by Thomas

* Chan. Fro. Jes. T, Pu ofifio.

t Chan. Affidanit, Esst,, 1615, 250,
T Thed,, Eaat,, tfiz0; Ti4.

§ b, Mich., ez, 514,

A Thed,, Trim,, adkzr, codb.
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Patrickson's death in 1622, and at Easter 1627 Thomas
Wibergh (junior) and Matilda his wife sold to Jane
Fetherstonhaugh, widow, the tithes of Ennerdale and
Kinniside for f100.* In 1668 Joseph Patrickson, her son,
released them to Thomas Patrickson, his son,t on whose
death without surviving issue they seem to have been
acquired by Anthony Patrickson of Scalegill. For by his
will, dated 7 March, 1727-8, he left the Rectory of Enner-
dale and Kinniside to his son Thomas, and he in 1743 left
the reversion of his Ennerdale estates to his sister Frances
Langton, whose daughters in 1777 presented Clement
Moscrop to the living.3

About 1827 John Kirkhaugh of Aspatria, Esq., having
acquired the rectorial tithes of Ennerdale and Kinniside,
claimed payment in kind, or the value thereof, for all
produce. The tenants at once combined to resist this
claim. In answer to complainant's bill they maintained
that no tithe was payable on produce consumed on the
farm, that complainant had already received the tithes of
lamb, wool, geese and pigs; and that all predial tithes
had long ago been commuted for a modus, which they
had paid him. Each tenant in his reply stated the name
of his tenement, the name and acreage of every field in it,
and the modus payable; a valuable record of local
place-names.§

William Mossop [Moscrop] has left us a record of what
these tithes were in the 15th century.

A just and tros accsunt of all small Tithes and modases
Collected within the Townships of Ennendale and Kinniside for
time Immemorial and Collected and received by me William
Mossop for my father and self who farmed the Tithes of the
Langton family and Joho Christian Curwen, Esq.. and M* John
Cuthbertsem the present owner thereof from the year rps8 to
1798 {with only three years interval) viz. Lambs, Wool, Geess, and

®F of F, Camb. East., 3 Car. 1.

+ F. of F. Cumb. E#st,, 20 Cas, II,

t Cuing, Churches of FI-".h.tﬂul.wl [reamery, p

§ Exch. B. and A. Cumb, Trin., l'||'|-"|:|:|..I"|'. r}ml]-!i;
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Pigs paid in kind. for 4 calves and under two pences sach and five
calves Two shillings and sixpence six calves four shillings and
fourpence and two pence each calf o fourteen inclusive if a calf
diz one penny for the milk an old cow ooe hallpenny. For a
Feal two pence for Bees Twopence each cast for every House-
kesper one hen or sixpence I demanded on Saint Thomas day.

Flough one penny, Garth one hall-penny, oblations one penny
and one hall-penny, for avery person of Sixtesn years or upwards
and a certain perscription or modus for every Tenesment within
tlee said Townships in lien of all Predial Tithes,

As witness my hand this zist Day of Janeary, 1504

William Mossop,'™®

We are able to add a few names to the list of the curates
of Ennerdale chapel given in Mr. Ciesar Caine's Churclies
of Whitehaven Rural Deanery.

Christopher Wood, Clerk, witnesses the wills of Roger
Patrickson of Stawbank in Lamplugh, dated 1z Dec.,
1583, and of * Ellinger gybsone of Eannerdale,’” dated
4 March, 1583-4. Isabel Wood, late wife of Sir Chris-
topher Wood ' in Enardell,” made her will 7 Aug., 1592
She left, inder alia, 6s. 8d. to the church of Enardell, and
135. 4d. to " 5ir Edward Scott Curatt.” " To my sonne
Roger loremer v li. and my whole title and interest of my
close in fresington.’’  Richard Bragg of Kinniside, by will
dated g March, 1592-3, left 6s. 8d4. to Ennerdale church
and 38 4d. to “ Sir Edward Scott, Curatt ”'; and Peter
Punsonhie of Kinniside, by will dated 5 Dec., 1502, left
1os. to the church and made * Edward Scott curatt ™' a
truates,

Nicholas Peel, Clerk, witnesses the will, dated & March,
1599-1600, of George Harrison of Murton; possibly an
error for Paul Peel.

Paul Peel first occurs as witness to the will of Ellin
Jenkinson of the Moorend in Ennerdale, dated 16 Sep.,
1597, Richard Brigg of Meadley leaves 2s. to ** Sr, Paull
Peile Clarke" and ' Paulle Peil Curatt at Ennerdall **

* Dickizson M55
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witnesses his will, dated 1 June, 1602, On 3 Oct., 1628,
he was fined 2d. at the Maner Court for a Courtfall at the
suit of Richard Bragg and his wife. He was living in
b2,

Anthony Bragg is mentioned by Mr. Caine as curate,
1660-g. Anthony Bragg witnessed the will of John
Wilson of (Croftfoot,) Ennerdale, 28 Sep., 1644, and
Anthony Bragg, Clerk, witnessed the will of Magdalen
Morman of Ennerdale, g April, 1650, besides several other
wills. He was buried at Ennerdale 21 April, 1669, having
had issue by Annas, his wife (bur. 7 Nov., 1668), Katherine
{(bap, 21 Nov., 1640), and Agnes, under age in 166qg. His
inventory was taken 22 April, 166g, f136. 135, 10d,

* Henry Wilkinson, Carate of the chapel of Ennerdale *
signed the bond to the will of John Norman of Ennerdale,
on 4 May, 1686; and according to the parish register
the Rev. Joseph Bowman, curate of Baolton-le-Sands,
Lanc.,, married Hannah Jackson of Ennerdale, at that
place, 30 5ep., 1773; and Thomas, son of the Rev. Joseph
Bowman, late curate of Ennerdale, and Hannah his wife,
was baptized there 6 Feb., 1774. .

The existence in 1560 of a small tenement called
Sinderhill, held by the occupier of Mireside, shows that
there was a bloomery in Ennerdale before that date.
There is a field of the same name near Laverick Hall, and
a Cinderbank near How Hall, besides a few old levels near
the Side. But no mention of mining in the manor has
been found before 1685, when Cueen Catherine leazed to
Richard Patrickson of Calder Abbey, Henry Skelton of
Branthwait, and Thomas Addison of Whitehaven,
Esquires, the quarries of stone and mines of metal, except
gold and silver, in the manor and forest of Ennerdale, for
31 vears, paying one-tenth of the ore gotten® The
venture does not appear to have been a success,

Let us now see what can be leamnt about the life of the

LR a/119 and alren, 4o 1o,
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tenants from the estreats of Court Rolls referred to above.
Like most history they chiefly deal with trouble, but are
not without interest. We have estreats for thirty years
between 1578 and 1640, and for ten years between 1662
and 1676, Apparently no Courts were held between
1641 and 1661, and, though the farmers of the manor
after 1676 were under obligation to furnish periodical
rentals and estreats of Court Rolls, no such records have
been found.

Till 160 these estreats are written in Ennerdale Latin,
a dialect sud generis; afterwards in a mixture of Latin and
English. They record the fines received by the lord on
change of lord or tenant, for heriots, for hearing com-
plaints, and for various breaches of the customs of the
Manor.

Nearly every year there is a payment for vert: "' de
quilibt’ Tenentin' ibm p virid' ijd. in toto —." In 1578
the total was #s. 2d., falling to 55 4d. in 1605, and
afterwards always 55. od. This gives the number of
tenants, which, it will be noticed, tended to decrease.

Another yearly entry is

" pro pintagie Cattellard  forminosh  sup oomund & or
* Pyadyng forestie,” or " de pinders,” or “the Hosters for
pindinge money."

Between 1578 and 1598 the amount paid in varied from
r2d. to 18d.; for 1603 and 1604 it was nil, and afterwards
always 16d. It would seem that Henry Patrickson had
allowed the foresters to become slack, and that either his
sons or Sir Wilfrid Lawson had compounded with them in
rhog for the fixed sum of 16d. a year. These sums only
incladed fines for foreign cattle straying in the forest
proper, and were collected by the foresters. Fines for
tenants' cattle and sheep that strayed on the commons
out of season, usually 1d. or 2d. per animal, are credited
in detail, those of the Winder and Rowrah tenants being
always recorded separately from those of Ennerdale. In
1588 nine tenants were fined 11d. in all
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* pro overleapeomente ovid in feacione,”

In 1620 Henry Jenkinson paid Sd.

“ on fowre sheps overleplin fens, "

In 15g3 five tenants were fined 125,

** pro Custodiendo oves in Le Bancks Contra peni, '
a place not identified, but it was always Gillerthwait
tenants or those living near Routon who were so fined,
The Rowrah and Winder tenants were always fined for
keeping their sheep on the common or on the King's
pasture, never in the fence or the Banks. Fines for
keeping sheep on Braithmore first occur in 1605,

The Dickinson M55, tell us that

" There been Twelve Tenements which every one of them pay
1jd. each in respect of Cragg Pinfold, viz. Three BMoosends,
Three Hrdges, Two Craggs, Bickmoss, Fellend, Two Gillioots,
Towards the Losds Bent, 15 6d. Pakd to Crossdale Pinfold oat
of the Dalemale Hent 64.°

Another offence first occurs in 1604, the year in which
Sir Wilirid Lawson held his first Court, and again points
to the Patricksons having been easy going with the
tenants.

" D'Anthonio fletcher de gillerthwalt p accipiend’ a d.
canis sui] vocat’ on Cure mont’ cont® penil vo Bij dai
I Rio Litledell de eadem p contl. . ys U T 1

The case was respited to the next Court when Fletcher
and Littledale as well as William Bowman, another
Gillerthwait tenant, were each fined 12d. for

" Caostodiend' canis ajui] voc' on Curre. "

In 1600 we find
“I¥ Willm Roger de Gilltherwait p cust’ onia”

Cani & p cariend” fid canl ad montem contra C

penam .. s i i R iij Hii
D" Willma H-u:n.-ma.u P mn' va T e i xij
D" Anthonio fietcher pcont ' . . i kif
I Richo Littlecate p con! Ve iy iy iij :|:|:|

These occupied the four tenements at Gillerthwait,
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They, and, when they died, their sons or other successors,
Rothereys, Braggs and Sharpes, were fined nearly every
year for the same offence, the amount of the fine gradually
increasing to 6s. 8d. It became, in short, a heavy annual
dog tax, which, apparently, the tenants thought it worth
while paying. No other tenants were similarly fined.
The offence seems to have been either keeping a lurcher
given to hunt the deer or sheep, or keeping one at Giller-
thwait, which was in the heart of the forest, Tenants
must have had sheep dogs.*

A third offence, also particularly associated with
Gillerthwaite, and first mentioned in 1604, was corrying
leather.

“D' Anthonfe Hols p currying correl sful] wids

currving «f his Ledder id ijd.
¥ Anthonic Ro¥s p n:urn}rmg wml & 111] mmi

statut’ ¥ . e iijd.
D" Willmo Bowman P cont .. 2 fijd.

As the offence was regularly rl:pr:.a.l&d until 1638 and
the fine was usually only 2d., and as it is often stated to
be against statute, not agzu'nst custom, it was probably an
infringement of some monoply, having the tacit support
of the steward and tenants.

The ordinary charge for settling a dispute in the Manor
i:-;:-urt was 2d., the loser paying, the usual entries being,

D' ..... q_'r,-nndrd in plita s[ua] v djd.

" for a Courtfall ” or ' & recovery at the smt ofl."  As
man;.r as 27 cases were dealt with in 1607, 29 in 1612, and
28 in 1hH24; in 20me years none.

But peaceable means were not always resorted to,
either by men or womern,  In 1604 we read:

B da
“D* Johe Hofs de Moorsid' p effus’ sangue sup
Wilm Jenkenson & a iij iiij
¥ Wilkme Jeakenson de Cmud:l.t P ano wnh.l:.t fact’
sup jnhum HDE!- - .- - - e

= Mr. Wm. Dickdnson in Comieiana gives --rpH'hﬂt aceoint of (ke hinting
af the = Wikd Dog of Ennendale ™ that had destmoged ower 300 shesp.
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Thus ** drawing blood ™ usually cost twice as much as
* an affray upon " or " a hubleshawe,” but not always.

In 1588 Margareta Patrickson® was fined r2d. " pro
illicitis verbis Loquntiis sup Ric. Benson ™ or, as it is
englished later on, * for undecent words against,”

The wife of Willam Wilsen in 1619 paid 12d. for
* glanderinge John Norman savinge he did remove meere
stakes or merestones betweene her husband and him."
They all lived at Crosdale and the feud lasted some years.
In 1625 William Wilson was fined 12d. for “a blood
drawn upon * Anthony Norman, Anthony Norman was
fined 35. 4d. for ¥ a blood drawn upon * William Wilson,
and 12d. more for *' a boxe of the Eare given to Willyam
Wilson his wife.™

Another little quarrel betwesn Willlam Birkmoss of
Birkmoss and Thomas [son of Richard] Benson of Bridge
i5 disclosed in the estreat for 1617,

" Thomas Benson for one horss contrary the payoe vid.
Willm Birkmosse for felling two oales Cnumryﬂu

payne .. « s, ikijad.
Thonas Benson Iv:nr !-:utllnge el i . iijs ilijd.

Thomas Benson for -drnmna:: blood upm Wil[yam
Birkmodse

Wllyam Birknmm :.rcmgﬂ I-:-r a Cm‘!act ma.du npnu
Thomas Benson xijd.
Richard Birkmosse the sonme m‘ 'l.'n-uf.lm :Bzul.:m.u [nr
for unlawfall houndinge the gosds of Thomas
Benson, sayeinge he had hounded them and woald
boande them and bolnge bot xiij yeares old soe
referred by the Jury to the Censure of 5¢ Wilfrid

Lawson Knight his Ma® Steward there s vid.
Thomas Benson for Listnknge under the h'hl-l.h:rl.ﬁwh.m
the Jurye were giveinge their verdict it w il

What else Sir Wilfrid did we are not told.

Slander, especially anything derogatory to the Court,
was severely dealt with. In 1578 John Dickynson paid
38. 4d. " quia scandalazavit Johem Chrathome " and

* Bk belogged 1o a branch of ibe Pairbehacsn living a8 Bridga,
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Roger Wilson in 1605 paid 25, ' p scanndalizand’ Ing.
Jur. p diio Regis dicens the Jury had done wrong.” In
161y James Williamson was fined 4s. for * sclanderinge
William Jackson for calling him Mare Stecler,” and
Micholas Williamson 35. 4d. for ™ undecent words against
Thomas Rogers sayinge that he had a theafs face”
Christopher Norman in 1628 paid 10d. for " undecent
words against fower sworne men,” and Peter Norman in
1636 paid 2s. for " abuses comitted in open Court.”

In 1633 William Jenkinson was fined ros, for * the
contempt in the Court & keeping his hatt on in Cofe " and
a forther 10s. in 1639 “ for his contemptious abuse and
misdemenor odmitted against the 54 Court as well in
contemptious speaches as otherwise,” Jenkinson was a
litigious man. He and his sons lived at. Crosdale, and.
shortly before they had unsuccessfully claimed at Carlisle
a tenement in Ennerdale, called Croftfoot, which Joseph
Patrickson had acquired. Their reply to these fines was
to exhibit a bill against Joseph at Westminster,*

There are occasional fines for cutting rushes, turves or
wood; one for not repairing the butts: one for not
mending the ™ hyeway in the mosse ™; one for * not
repayring the waye att dickeyson fleild head alias Clifton
veat''; and one for " driveing his goods downe the
Thwategate."” John lrmn}rs-:m PYPer ocours m 1563, and
John Hodgshon pyper in 1633.

During Charles the First's reign an epidemic of gambling
broke out in Ennerdale. In 1624 John Rawlinge was
fined 35. 4d. for  Kepinge unlawful games, viz. cardinge
in his house.” In 1628 John Littledale had to pay zod.
for " carding in his house for money *; Richard Littledale
of Gardends 12d. for * Keepinge Carding in his house,”
6d. for " carding in his own hounse,” and 6d. more for
“ garding in the house of Xpofer Dixon *'; besides other
culprits, Again in 1633 John Jenkinson was fined 6s.

® Cham, Pro. Cara I, J. 08047
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&d, " for keeping cardes play in the house & playing
himself,” and twelve others paid 3s. 4d. each for playing
themselves; which seems to have checked the vice, But
in 1675 John Fisher had to pay 3z, 4d. for " unlawful
game in his house on the Sabbath day.” There must have
been some nosing informers in the parish,

All these were but venial offences; we never hear of
any disgraceful conduct or serions crime, not even of a
breach of the assize of bread and beer. Perhaps they all
baked at home; but that Ennerdale was not unacquainted
with ale is shown by the bill the tenants handed to John
Lamplugh after the survey of the manor made in 1676 for
Queen Catherine.

October 1zth (74).
Hilla véra oosts
for aile & Tobbaca
spent & consumed

And no victualls
for two daves & one
alght for forty men
& upword At Will
dixsons in ye said
Manfi e suf of

ta ya cleck fis, 8d.
vera copia sume 1li. o8, od.

138. g

o e e e—

The ace™ given then nto
John Lamplagh
senescall manet®

AFPPENDIX,
GRAVES OF THE MANOR OF EMNERDALE.
1514=5 Roger Rodery Add. Char. 23451
1577 Anthony Taylor L.E. rrf78 904
1578 Thomas Dals LR, 11/3/66
1580 Jobn Dickinsem L.E. 8f310
1582 John Dickinson LR, 8/311-2
ante 1587 John Littledals of Routon

* L.R. i8/a/s0.
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Willinm Jenkinson of Mirehouss, w

Lamnpligh :?epnuﬂinus
William Cratharme i HL
Richard Towerson 7 Jae. L1z
Anthony Fletcher L.E. 11/
Tichard Patrickson [of Brigg] L.B. 11/3/68
Anthony Rothery L.E. 8/304.
Willkam Littledale } Court Rolls
Anthony Hodgson 165/
Wicholas Williamson LR, 11/3 0
Jehn Jenkinson L.R. 15/3,/71
Anthony Rogers L.R. 11/3/7a
William Jenkinson L.R. 15/2/58
John Rogers L.E. 11/3/%9
William Littledals L.R. 11/80/912
William Birkmoss LK. 11/3/61
William Rawling L.K. 11/3/60
John Littledale of Routon LR, 11/3/6x
Jaenes Wilson L.E. 13/4/74
William Rogers L.E. 1nf4/ 78
Christopher Rodery Court Rolls 165/8
Anthony Dickson L.E. 11456
John Woad L.R. 51/3/%
Joha Littiedale LE. 11/2/52
Henry Winyeate L.R. 11/70/008b

- Chan. Pro.Car. I
Jehn Jenkinsan L.R. 11/4/58
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